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          1  HOUSING PRESERVATION AND DEVELOPMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: My name is

          3  Archie Spigner, Chair of the City Council's

          4  Committee on Housing and Buildings and I hopefully

          5  soon will be joined by members of the Committee.

          6                 We are here today to examine the

          7  Fiscal 2000 Executive Budgets for the City Housing

          8  and Building agencies.  Expected to testify today

          9  are the commissioners of the Department of Housing

         10  Preservation and Development, the Department of

         11  Buildings, and the new chair of the New York City

         12  Housing Authority. The Committee today will focus on

         13  these agencies' roles in ensuring the safety of City

         14  residents.

         15                 We will also focus on their roles in

         16  the maintenance of the City's housing stocks. We

         17  will begin with the testimony of Richard Roberts,

         18  the Commissioner of the Department of Housing

         19  Preservation and Development.

         20                 Commissioner, good morning.

         21                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Mr. Chairman.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Introduce

         23  whoever is with you and yourself, and we would be

         24  happy to hear your testimony.

         25                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Okay.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            4

          1  HOUSING PRESERVATION AND DEVELOPMENT

          2                 Good morning, Chairman Spigner,

          3  members of the Committee. I am Richard Roberts,

          4  Commissioner of the Department of Housing

          5  Preservation and Development. Thank you for the

          6  opportunity to testify today on the Executive

          7  Expense budget for Fiscal Year 2000 as it relates to

          8  HPD.

          9                 Sitting with me this morning is Diane

         10  Lipset, the Associate Commissioner for Budget and

         11  Fiscal Affairs. The Fiscal Year 2000 Expense Budget

         12  is $393 million, $62 million below the forecast for

         13  Fiscal Year 1999. At the beginning of each fiscal

         14  year, federal grant funds, such as Section 8 rental

         15  assistance, are scheduled into HPD's budget to fund

         16  current year needs.

         17                 In addition, community development

         18  block grant funds are rolled forward for

         19  unliquidated prior year obligations. In Fiscal Year

         20  2000, we anticipate that this annual process will

         21  translate into approximately $20 million that will

         22  be added back to HPD's budget after adoption.

         23                 Of the remaining $42 million,

         24  approximately $40 million of the decrease can be

         25  attributed to workload reestimates or one-time
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          2  funding for Fiscal Year '99 for certain programs

          3  that are not contained in the baseline budget for

          4  Fiscal Year 2000 and future fiscal years.

          5                 The workload reestimates include

          6  resources no longer required for the operation and

          7  maintenance of our in rem stock as a result of our

          8  successful disposition efforts.

          9                 Also included in the Fiscal Year 1999

         10  Expense budget, but not in the Fiscal Year 2000

         11  budget, are federal Housing Opportunities for People

         12  With AIDS, HOPWA grant funds, which HPD uses to

         13  provide loans to create permanent supportive housing

         14  for people with special needs due to AIDS. In Fiscal

         15  Year 2000, funds for this program are scheduled in

         16  HPD's capital budget.

         17                 Other programs that are not contained

         18  in the Fiscal Year 2000 baseline budget include the

         19  City Council funding of the community consultant

         20  contracts and legal services contracts.  The balance

         21  of the $2 million is attributable to expenditure

         22  reductions effective in Fiscal Year 2000.

         23                 In the Fiscal Year 2000 budget our

         24  total headcount is set at 2,714, a 50-person

         25  reduction from our Fiscal Year 1999 forecast. A
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          2  significant portion of this decrease is funded with

          3  federal funds, and we anticipate sufficient ongoing

          4  grant funds in Fiscal Year 2000 to restore 20

          5  positions. The balance of 30 positions represents

          6  reductions effective in Fiscal Year 2000 that will

          7  be achieved through consolidation of functions,

          8  productivity initiatives and attrition.

          9                 A few months ago during the

         10  Preliminary Budget hearings, I spoke to you about

         11  HPD's aggressive anti-abandonment initiative. I

         12  would now like to update you on our recent efforts

         13  in this area.

         14                 In order to support our increased

         15  anti-abandonment efforts, we will soon start

         16  shifting some staff resources into key

         17  anti-abandonment programs.

         18                 This shift will reflect the agency's

         19  success in accelerating the disposition of the in

         20  rem housing stock while simultaneously increasing

         21  activities to prevent disinvestment.

         22                 In line with this staff enhancement

         23  initiative, HPD is opening anti-abandonment offices

         24  in both Manhattan and Queens, which will allow us to

         25  increase our ability to provide locally-based
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          2  outreach and remediation services in these areas.

          3  Offices in the Bronx and Brooklyn are already in

          4  operation.

          5                 Out of the original 174 parcels

          6  identified through the Third-Party Transfer Pilot in

          7  Bronx, Tax Map Section 10, 49 remain subject to the

          8  action. This means that as a result of our continued

          9  outreach efforts over the past year, most of the

         10  property owners have paid their taxes or entered

         11  into installment agreements with the Department of

         12  Finance. Many also have decided to enter into a loan

         13  or repair agreement with HPD.

         14                 These properties are examples of what

         15  anti-abandonment efforts can achieve. They are

         16  remaining in private ownership and becoming viable

         17  once again.

         18                 Neighborhood Restore, an Article XI

         19  corporation formed through the local initiative

         20  support corporation, New York Equity Fund, and the

         21  Enterprise Foundation, has been formed to take

         22  temporary title to the remaining 49 properties, and

         23  assist the final transferees to secure

         24  rehabilitation financing, prior to final conveyance.

         25                 We are completing the review of
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          2  applicants who responded to HPD's Request for

          3  Qualifications for Third-Party Transfer purchases

          4  and expect to initiate these transfers and submit

          5  them to the Council later this spring.

          6                 We are also working with the

          7  Department of Finance to initiate the next round of

          8  in rem actions in the coming months.

          9                 This round will include actions

         10  covering some 65 tax delinquent buildings in the

         11  Bronx and Brooklyn safe at home areas, as well as

         12  for the first time a group of buildings in the 7A

         13  program.

         14                 HPD plans to incorporate a

         15  Third-Party Transfer approach as a regular element

         16  of the 7A program, enabling these distressed

         17  properties to be expeditiously discharged to

         18  long-term private ownership and undergo a more

         19  comprehensive rehabilitation.

         20                 In addition, we have begun to plan

         21  for further in rem actions, including one in the

         22  Harlem Gateway area.

         23                 Anti-abandonment field staff have

         24  been very successful in the two safe at home areas.

         25  All 230 problem buildings have been expected, and
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          2  outreach efforts have encouraged dozens of owners to

          3  apply for loans and enter into voluntary repair

          4  agreements.

          5                 In addition, 121 owners have

          6  completed the property owner training module of the

          7  housing education program. This successful program

          8  continues to expand to reach additional audiences.

          9  This summer, simulcast technology will be used for

         10  the first time to deliver a free course on

         11  management and maintenance to multiple remote

         12  locations in other boroughs, allowing a greater

         13  number of owners to participate and benefit from the

         14  instruction. HPD plans to expand its pilot program

         15  later in the year.

         16                 The Housing Litigation Bureau has had

         17  a successful 1998/1999 Heat Season Program,

         18  initiating 1,750 cases against owners with heat and

         19  hot water violations. This represents more than a 15

         20  percent litigation increase over the last heat

         21  season, despite 15 fewer heat days during the mild

         22  winter season.

         23                 HLB is now investigating hundreds of

         24  cases for comprehensive litigation and expects to

         25  mount a substantial litigation effort over the
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          2  spring and summer months.

          3                 Our efforts in the area of code

          4  enforcement, as well as anti-abandonment, continue

          5  to grow.

          6                 In fact, since the beginning of this

          7  calendar year, 30 new inspectors have been hired,

          8  allowing for a total of 240 inspectors. The largest

          9  number since the state eliminated funding for code

         10  enforcement in 1991.

         11                 Reinspections are also up. Since this

         12  past March, CODE has attempted to inspect 80 percent

         13  of all owner certifications, compared with 69

         14  percent over the last period, over the last

         15  comparable period.

         16                 This increase is partly due to the

         17  increased number of inspectors in the mild winter

         18  season. I am sure you are familiar with the fact

         19  that several owners of Mitchell-Lama Developments

         20  are prepaying their mortgages and buying out of the

         21  program. Once City Mitchell-Lamas occupied after

         22  January 1974 leave the program, they will no longer

         23  be rent regulated and their owners will be able to

         24  increase rents to market value. We recognize that

         25  this situation is a critical one, particularly for

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            11

          1  HOUSING PRESERVATION AND DEVELOPMENT

          2  low-income tenants.

          3                 As a result, HPD has been working in

          4  conjunction with the Mayor's Office of Management

          5  and Budget to develop a rental subsidy program to

          6  assist those tenants in Mitchell-Lamas that do not

          7  receive a federal subsidy and buy out of the

          8  program.

          9                 In addition, HPD is working with the

         10  federal Department of Housing and Urban Development

         11  to administer the enhanced Section 8 Sticky Voucher

         12  Program, which will allow tenants to stay at the

         13  North Waterside, a Mitchell-Lama Development, even

         14  if their rents exceed the HUD prescribed fair market

         15  rents.

         16                 In the past year I have had several

         17  opportunities to visit Albany and speak with state

         18  legislators and the Governor's representatives about

         19  some of the City's housing concerns.

         20                 One of these concerns was about the

         21  continuation of the New York New York Program. Under

         22  the original New York New York Agreement, the City

         23  and the State jointly developed 3,115 new units of

         24  housing for homeless, mentally ill individuals. This

         25  program has been a great success. It has become a
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          2  national model for providing quality housing and

          3  support services to the disabled.

          4                 I am pleased to report that Mayor

          5  Giuliani and Governor Pataki recently reached an

          6  agreement to develop 1,500 additional units under

          7  the second phase of this successful program.

          8                 With the addition of these new units,

          9  New York New York II will continue to provide a path

         10  to independence for this vulnerable population, and

         11  will continue to contribute to the City of New

         12  York's national reputation as the most prolific

         13  developer of affordable housing for special needs

         14  tenants.

         15                 To update you on the lead paint

         16  litigation and implementation of Local Law 1, last

         17  week the parties in the litigation agreed to a one

         18  continuation of the stay against enforcement of

         19  Local Law 1.

         20                 In the next month we look forward to

         21  continuing to work cooperatively with the Council to

         22  develop reasonable legislation to protect New York

         23  City's children from lead poisoning.

         24                 In the meantime, HPD continues to

         25  ready itself for the law's implementation. In Fiscal
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          2  Year 2000, the agency has allocated approximately

          3  $38 million in Expense and Capital funding for

          4  treatment and associated cost of City-owned and

          5  privately-owned buildings.

          6                 The Expense budget is set at

          7  approximately $14 million, of which $12 million is

          8  in CDBG funds and $2 million is in tax levy.

          9                 The agency will use the Expense money

         10  to increase its capacity to conduct lead testing

         11  treatment in apartments and private buildings in the

         12  in rem stock.

         13                 Additionally, $8 million in capital

         14  funds are scheduled in HPD's capital plan. The plan,

         15  the capital funding will be used for two lead paint

         16  hazard reduction programs. The $38 million also

         17  includes $60 million in capital funds that will be

         18  used to treat lead in HPD buildings that are slated

         19  for disposition.

         20                 HPD is in the process of adding more

         21  than 100 positions to its lead program. To date, HPS

         22  has filled 36 permanent full-time and per diem

         23  positions and 38 temporary positions.

         24                 In addition to training more than 200

         25  staff members, the agency has provided medical
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          2  testing for lead abatement workers and has

          3  contracted with the Department of Sanitation for

          4  ongoing testing and monitoring.

          5                 HPD has also awarded seven $1 million

          6  contracts for lead paint abatement. This contracts

          7  require paint chip sampling and analysis, and five

          8  mini-requirements contracts for XRF testing and

          9  scoping.

         10                 Finally, the agency is working with

         11  the Health Department to improve interagency

         12  communication to the transfer of electronic data to

         13  more effectively protect the health and safety of

         14  the City's children.

         15                 HPD is also in the process of

         16  reengineering and developing several mission

         17  critical computer applications. Some examples of

         18  these are a new compliant intake system for tenants

         19  of public and privately-owned buildings, a violation

         20  system that will include automated routing for

         21  inspectors, and a new demolition tracking system

         22  which automates planned and emergency demolition

         23  requests. These are all comprehensive workflow

         24  systems which help minimize paper use and improve

         25  internal effectiveness.
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          2                 In terms of preparing for the Year

          3  2000, HPD has made significant progress on its Y2K

          4  Plan. In fact, almost 90 percent of the agency's

          5  non-compliant systems have already been remediated

          6  or rewritten. HPD has also been working under the

          7  guidance of the Mayor's Office of Emergency

          8  Management to prepare contingency plans for the

          9  agency's critical processes.

         10                 These contingency plans will ensure

         11  that agency procedures will continue with the

         12  minimum disruption possible come the Year 2000.

         13                 I hope this testimony has helped

         14  address any questions you might have regarding the

         15  Fiscal Year 2000 Executive Expense Budget and the

         16  direction of HPD. I appreciate the opportunity to

         17  speak with you today, and am happy to answer any

         18  questions that you might have.

         19                 Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And we

         21  appreciate your very comprehensive, as always,

         22  report.

         23                 As you know, this is a joint hearing

         24  of the Finance Committee and the Housing and

         25  Buildings Committee and we have been joined now by
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          2  the Chair of the Finance Committee, Council Member

          3  Herbert Berman. Also, the Council Member, Minority

          4  Leader, of the Republicans, that is, Council Member

          5  Ognibene. Council Member Stanley Michels, who is a

          6  senior member of this Committee, and one of the

          7  newer members of this Committee, Council Member

          8  Nelson.

          9                 Commissioner, as I stated your report

         10  is comprehensive, I would like to just ask one brief

         11  question about your statement that you have opened

         12  an anti-abandonment office in Queens, where is the

         13  office, and what is its purpose?

         14                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: We are not open

         15  quite yet. We are in the process of opening it. I

         16  believe it is going to be in the Queens Borough

         17  Hall. And the purpose would really be to conduct

         18  intensive outreach efforts to private owners,

         19  education, outreach, targeted code enforcement, loan

         20  assistance, and the full package of anti abandonment

         21  services, which we would provide to private owners.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Multiples down

         23  to the level of what?

         24                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes, multiples

         25  down to single family. I mean, we have a full array
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          2  of programs, whether it is our small homes private

          3  loan program, or our PLP program, where we would

          4  provide loan assistance, outreach, education,

          5  direction to owners that needed assistance and so

          6  forth.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Because most of

          8  Queens, a large majority of Queens is one- and

          9  two-family primarily owner-occupied buildings, and

         10  certainly those of us who represent districts in

         11  that category would want to see some help go to them

         12  as well. I would like to very much be kept informed

         13  of this office as it opens and as it starts to

         14  implement whatever programs that you intend to run

         15  from it.

         16                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Absolutely. I

         17  think it is a very good point. In connection with

         18  the tax lien sales, we have been providing support,

         19  both to the Department of Finance and to the private

         20  land owners in terms of this type of work. So, I

         21  think we can get to the point where we can be even

         22  more intensive in our efforts. That is one of the

         23  reasons that we want to go out to the neighborhoods

         24  and communities and the boroughs and open field

         25  offices so that we will be in a better position to
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          2  do just that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Well, I want to

          4  commend you for being proactive. We didn't even

          5  request it. And we agree wholly on the need.

          6                 One other question. You testified on

          7  the Mitchell-Lama dilemma, and you stated that you

          8  were going to initiate some rent subsidies for

          9  persons living in these Mitchell-Lama buildings;

         10  would you want to flesh that out just a little bit?

         11                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes, we are in

         12  the process of working on some details with OMB and

         13  some of the other interested agencies. But the

         14  principle issue is that -- first of all, let me just

         15  say that, in terms of the number of units that we

         16  would expect to actually buy out of the program, we

         17  think that that number is actually very small, and

         18  will probably comprise less than three percent of

         19  the total universe of Mitchell-Lama housing.

         20                 Although, there is a fair amount of

         21  concern out there and people are legitimately

         22  worried about how these issues might affect them.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Only three

         24  percent?

         25                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes, it is a
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          2  small -- it will be a very small percentage.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And the other

          4  owners will just voluntarily, do you think to remain

          5  --

          6                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, you have

          7  to be able to meet certain conditions in order to be

          8  -- and again, these provisions are all articulated

          9  in state statute, but you have to meet certain

         10  conditions in order to be able to buy out a program.

         11                 But even in those circumstances,

         12  there are two populations that I think we are

         13  particularly interested in, certainly these are two

         14  populations that the Mayor was specifically

         15  interested in. The first was seniors, and the second

         16  was low-income tenants, and low-income, we are

         17  looking at numbers or ranges somewhere between 60

         18  percent and 80 percent -- up to 60 percent or 80

         19  percent of area median income, as populations for

         20  which we might want to craft a rental subsidy to

         21  provide some assistance as the buildings are

         22  transitioning to market rents.

         23                 One other key point in this, however

         24  --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: There will be a
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          2  means test attached to this concept, of course?

          3                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Absolutely.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Because from

          5  what I am reading in the papers, particularly there

          6  was a recent story about Waterside, for example,

          7  where people are paying five- and four- and

          8  six-hundred dollars for apartments that over time

          9  similar apartments right in Waterside are going for

         10  two- and three-thousand dollars a month. So there is

         11  just a vast difference between market and what the

         12  Mitchell-Lama experience has been.

         13                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, Waterside

         14  is a particular development that has some variations

         15  to it that I would be happy to sit down and talk

         16  with you in detail, but the particular development

         17  that I referenced was the North Waterside Building,

         18  which is a separate, you really have to think about

         19  the development in terms of two separate entities.

         20  There is North Waterside, and then Waterside.

         21                 North Waterside is the building that

         22  actually is comprised -- it has got a federal 236

         23  subsidy, it is comprised generally of low income and

         24  very low income people, and the federal government

         25  has indicated a willingness to convert the second
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          2  236 subsidy to a section 8 subsidy that would help

          3  protect those tenants against rental increases. So,

          4  we think that is an appropriate approach and are in

          5  discussions with the federal government about our

          6  role as an administrator of that program.

          7                 But the other key point to recognize

          8  is that many of the tenants, even in the case of a

          9  small percentage of units that were actually opted

         10  out of the program, many of those tenants will still

         11  be protected by the regulation system. What we are

         12  focused on really is those developments that would

         13  not be covered by rent regulation. And in that case,

         14  we would be looking to try to protect some

         15  populations we consider to be vulnerable.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Well, I am

         17  certain we will have other opportunities to discuss

         18  this. I don't want to hear this budget hearing into

         19  a Mitchell-Lama hearing. Just one final question on

         20  that area. Do we concede then that there are no

         21  restraints legally through existing legislation to

         22  the rights of these landlords to buy out of the

         23  program?

         24                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: All of these

         25  things are governed by state statute, and the
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          2  statute provides for certain conditions that have to

          3  be met in order for an owner to buy out of the

          4  program. Essentially you have to be in the program

          5  for at least 20 years and you have to agree to

          6  prepay your mortgage, and to go back to full taxes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: So, you are

          8  saying the statute is what it is?

          9                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: The statute is

         10  what it is. And that is clear and that is really for

         11  the folks in Albany to determine if there need to be

         12  changes for that particular situation.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Chairman Berman,

         14  and then followed by Council Member Michels and then

         15  Council Member Nelson.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chairman.

         18                 Good morning, Commissioner.

         19                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Hi. How are

         20  you?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I read your

         22  testimony and I came in a little late so I had to

         23  catch up, about the in rem actions in the several

         24  months that will be ensuing and the tax delinquent

         25  buildings, and I have sort of an inquiry in that
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          2  area.

          3                 How many of the buildings that have

          4  been excluded from the two tax lien sales have

          5  received assistance from HPD? And what is the form

          6  of the assistance that was --

          7                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: The assistance

          8  takes -- we have a listing of some information that

          9  we actually sent over to Council Member Warden. We

         10  ripped it out and here it is.

         11                 There are approximately 2,000

         12  properties that received assistance from the

         13  Department through a variety of different programs,

         14  and those programs ranged to loan assistance,

         15  installment agreements with respect to their tax

         16  obligations, targeted code enforcement and

         17  inspection of the properties, education, information

         18  about how to access assistance for their properties

         19  and so forth. It is a full range of services that we

         20  would provide to an owner to assist that owner to

         21  make sure that they are in a position to maintain

         22  the property.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, all right.

         24  Now, is there any standard that you apply to

         25  determine which of the buildings will not be
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          2  included in the tax liens --

          3                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: It is

          4  statutory.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: You follow

          6  precisely the statute then?

          7                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: It's statutory

          8  and then we also make some determinations on some

          9  special considerations.

         10                 We have, for example, if there are

         11  properties, for example, where we have made a

         12  significant commitment to -- in terms of prior

         13  resources. So, for example, we might have already

         14  given a loan or have been involved with that owner

         15  and felt that there was some more appropriate way to

         16  follow up with that owner as opposed to inclusion.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: You would exclude

         18  that from the sale?

         19                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Mitchell-Lama,

         20  for example.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Does that account

         22  for the 65 in rem buildings you referred to in your

         23  testimony?

         24                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: No. That is a

         25  separate. Those properties are a separate category,
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          2  and are distinct from a tax lien sale.

          3                 Now, if you want to just think about

          4  this in terms of a linear process, Finance initiates

          5  a tax lien sale, and prior to that we are in

          6  negotiation with Finance and then we say, okay,

          7  either for statutory reasons or some other

          8  considerations that we agree on, those properties

          9  are removed, okay? They are out.

         10                 The tax lien sale goes forward.

         11                 Then it is banned, just for the sake

         12  of argument it doesn't have to happen this way

         13  because all of this stuff could be happening at the

         14  same time, but for the sake of argument, say it is a

         15  linear process and we go in after the tax lien sale

         16  has been initiated, and initiate an in rem

         17  foreclosure action against those properties,

         18  probably what would be included is properties that

         19  we have excluded, and then also some other

         20  properties that we may pick up for a variety of

         21  different reasons.

         22                 In that case, through that

         23  approximately 13-month period, we are working with

         24  the owners essentially to try to get them to pay

         25  their taxes and to upgrade their property.
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          2                 At the final stage there are -- in

          3  the case of this particular action there are -- what

          4  did I say, 52 or --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Sixty-five.

          6                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Sixty-five

          7  properties that are left in the action, and those

          8  properties are now eligible for transfer, those

          9  properties are actually going to be, and we are in

         10  the process of identifying a qualification, a list

         11  of qualified private owners that we would -- that

         12  would be eligible for us to transfer those

         13  properties to. We will make some determinations as

         14  to the appropriate folks to acquire those

         15  properties, we will then submit that whole package

         16  to the Council, the Council will review it, make

         17  some determinations and then we will move forward.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, very

         19  much, Commissioner. That was very enlightening. I

         20  appreciate it.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Commissioner --

         22  Council Member Berman, you made a request of the

         23  Commissioner I think?

         24                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Probably this

         25  list here. We will definitely get that to you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: The Commissioner

          3  will make that available to us.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: If you can make

          5  it available also to the Council of the Committee so

          6  that you can assist Herbert Berman in any follow-up

          7  that is required.

          8                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         10  Nelson.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Would you

         12  update this Committee as far as to your progress in

         13  utilizing the $1.3 million in code enforcement?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Do you want to

         15  go through that, Diane?

         16                 MS. LIPSET: Sure.

         17                 We brought on the ten inspectors that

         18  we were funded for and they were supposed to be

         19  dedicated to doing reinspections, and you have

         20  noticed that our reinspection rate is up.

         21                 We also have in the hiring process

         22  the attorney and the other support positions that we

         23  were going to be brining on. They should be on board

         24  very, very shortly.

         25                 There were also hand-held radios and
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          2  computers which are also being procured, and some

          3  expenses for emergency repairs which also will be

          4  spent by the end of this fiscal year.

          5                 So, basically we have made good

          6  progress in using the resources that you made

          7  available.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Do you feel it

          9  is an appropriate compliment in terms of --

         10  approximately how long would it take average time to

         11  say look into a violation?

         12                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, this

         13  won't affect the time frames in terms of our

         14  violation process. I mean, we as a general matter,

         15  have an obligation to respond immediately and to do

         16  so within a 24 to 48-hour period. That doesn't

         17  really -- what it really will affect, Council

         18  member, is the volume, the number of situations we

         19  are able to respond to, as opposed to necessarily

         20  the operational aspects of it.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: You feel you

         22  have the sufficient amount of code enforcers?

         23                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, I think

         24  that we believe, certainly we believe we have made

         25  good progress in terms of trying to identify as many
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          2  and employ as many inspectors as we possibly can

          3  with the resources that are available to us, and we

          4  are now, as I indicated in my testimony, at the

          5  highest level since the state originally cut funding

          6  for code enforcement in the early nineties.

          7                 So, we think that there is a lot more

          8  that we need to do, we are trying to enhance our

          9  productivity in these areas, and we also appreciate

         10  the assistance that was provided by the Council to

         11  assist and complement those efforts.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: This is

         13  ongoing, of course you have ongoing records with

         14  that, as far as if you would need more code

         15  enforcement inspectors, and you would notify the

         16  proper authorities about that?

         17                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, I think

         18  our responsibility is to manage the agency

         19  consistent with the resources that are available to

         20  us. So, that is where we focus and certainly we are

         21  in pretty close contact with this body and other

         22  folks about how we discharge our responsibilities.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Chairman.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            30

          1  HOUSING PRESERVATION AND DEVELOPMENT

          2  Michels.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Good morning,

          4  Commissioner.

          5                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Hi.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Just a

          7  follow-up question to the question on the

          8  Mitchell-Lamas and the buy-out situation. And I

          9  really don't know, are these the seniors who are

         10  eligible for SCRIE -- if they are under rent

         11  regulation, are they eligible for SCRIE under these?

         12                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: We found, if I

         13  am not mistaken, a gap in the SCRIE. What we are

         14  talking about is not just low income seniors, we are

         15  talking about all seniors.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am just

         17  talking about seniors, 62 years of age, are they

         18  entitled to SCRIE if they meet all of the

         19  qualifications, if they were under rent regulation?

         20                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes, I believe

         21  so. If they meet the requirements of the SCRIE

         22  Program, but there would be some seniors that would

         23  not be eligible for SCRIE, principally because of

         24  income.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: If they are
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          2  not eligible to SCRIE under rent regulation, they

          3  wouldn't be eligible for SCRIE under non-rent

          4  regulation.

          5                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, our view

          6  is that we would actually be looking to provide some

          7  assistance --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Additional

          9  help, yes.

         10                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, I saw

         12  that. So, that is very good.

         13                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Right.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But I just

         15  didn't know whether -- I am so used to talking about

         16  regulated housing, that I didn't know when it comes

         17  to non -- when you didn't have non-regulated

         18  housing, you usually don't have seniors who have

         19  incomes at that level.

         20                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Right.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And now all

         22  of a sudden you are going to find huge increases in

         23  rents. Because I was up, not in one of my buildings,

         24  but the one building in the '90s on the west side,

         25  where there was a big rally, I am trying to
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          2  remember.

          3                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes, that is a

          4  state --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: There was a

          6  buy-out there.

          7                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: That is a

          8  state-supervised --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And they were

         10  protesting huge increases of three times the rents.

         11                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Right.

         12                 Our program will be restricted to

         13  City supervised, City supervised Mitchell-Lamas. The

         14  Mitchell-Lama that you are speaking about is a

         15  state-supervised Mitchell-Lama.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: There is

         17  going to be a buy-out anyway.

         18                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: It's going to

         19  be a buy-out. That is what the owners are proposing.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: In other

         21  words, we are not going to be trying to help people

         22  who are in a state building that there has been a

         23  buy-out?

         24                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: No.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Really?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: How do we

          4  differentiate between the City's buy-out and the

          5  state buy-out?

          6                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: The city/state.

          7  That is the difference, the city/state.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, but they

          9  no longer are going to be city/state, it is going to

         10  be private buildings owned by someone who bought

         11  them out and there are going to be city residents in

         12  there. So we make no distinction between the people

         13  who are living in the City --

         14                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes, I would

         15  strongly encourage you or anyone else to have some

         16  serious conversations with the representatives in

         17  Albany about those particular situations. But they

         18  are still going to be residents in the City of New

         19  York. They are going to end up in the same status as

         20  a private building. Just because there is a source

         21  of where they were regulated before and we are not

         22  making a distinction? I think there is a distinction

         23  there.

         24                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, in the

         25  case of federally operated or owned housing, we
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          2  wouldn't be stepping into those situations either.

          3                 Clearly the state has --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But once --

          5                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Council member,

          6  no. That is the answer.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Once they

          8  become private buildings bought out, they are now --

          9                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Then they are

         10  not eligible for, and they are not eligible and they

         11  are not under the rent regulation system.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But everybody

         13  living in those buildings is going to be equal,

         14  whether it was formally a City building, a state

         15  building or a federal building, they are all going

         16  to be tenants of a building living in the City of

         17  New York with huge rent increases.

         18                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Okay, I think

         19  we will go around and around on this.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Well, I am

         21  just trying to get to the issue here. Because you

         22  are saying that the source of the building was City

         23  regulated Mitchell-Lama, we will help you. But if

         24  you are in formerly a state- or a federal-controlled

         25  building, and even though you are private, we cannot
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          2  help you.

          3                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, I think

          4  that is a question, and I haven't heard as to what

          5  DHCR's posture is going to be. I think it is going

          6  to be a serious issue for DHCR and they are

          7  going to need to deal with it, and maybe what the

          8  state should do is to look at our example and maybe,

          9  you know, follow our leadership on this.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Well, maybe

         11  they say they are going to wash their hands of it.

         12  It is now a city problem because we no longer own

         13  the building, they are no longer regulating the

         14  building, they are under no obligation, they paid

         15  off their mortgage and therefore they are not within

         16  our jurisdiction anymore.

         17                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, that is

         18  not the position that we took. And I think our

         19  position is a valid public policy one and housing

         20  policy one, and I would think that other entities in

         21  government would consider it as a good model.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: What you are

         23  saying, the City used to regulate that building,

         24  therefore we feel we have responsibility to that

         25  building. You used to regulate the other building,
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          2  then you should take the responsibility. You

          3  shouldn't just dump this building in our area.

          4                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I think that is

          5  a legitimate way of looking at it.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Meanwhile,

          7  the citizens of the City, they have to be taken care

          8  of, and whether we lean on the feds or the state, we

          9  should do something to help them.

         10                 Let me ask you this question. I know

         11  you note, and of course I am perfectly aware of the

         12  fact that we have a stay of the --

         13                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: A continuation,

         14  right.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: A

         16  continuation of the new proposed Health Department

         17  rules, as far as lead abatement is concerned, and

         18  whether or not those -- and if there is an agreement

         19  reached, and hopefully there will be an agreement

         20  reached and you and I are supposed to get together

         21  and we haven't yet done so.

         22                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Right.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: On

         24  legislation on that, and we are working on that and

         25  hopefully we will be able to come to some sort of an
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          2  agreement on that. But nevertheless, you have

          3  announced a very comprehensive, and probably one of

          4  the most comprehensive programs, as far as lead

          5  abatement and taking care of children that I have

          6  ever seen since I have been in the Council and since

          7  I passed Local Law 1 in 1982, and I am very pleased,

          8  but will all of those programs still stay in effect,

          9  whether or not that space is --

         10                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes. I think

         11  the point of our discussion today was to say that it

         12  is budgeted, these are the proposals --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: It is not

         14  contingent upon anything?

         15                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: These are the

         16  proposals that we, and this is the manner in which

         17  we would plan to implement whatever is in place.

         18                 We think these initiatives are all

         19  within the -- are supportable, given the resources

         20  that we have allocated to us at this point.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: No, I

         22  understand that, and they are quite generous and I

         23  am very pleased with them, and from my first look at

         24  it, it seems to be very generous.

         25                 But what I am trying to get an
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          2  understanding on is, to be more specific --

          3                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Under those

          5  rules, the proposed rules, which we hope we can

          6  modify as a result of some legislation, they require

          7  lead-free buildings, abatement that really

          8  completely removes the lead from apartments, under

          9  what we have always believed from the beginning,

         10  even Local Law 1, which I believe was not

         11  interpreted properly. We believe in lead safe, so

         12  therefore you are going to have to do less

         13  abatement, under lead safe than under lead free,

         14  correct?

         15                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, I think

         16  --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The question

         18  in my mind, so therefore it is going to be cheaper

         19  to do lead safe than lead free?

         20                 Except in certain apartments, which

         21  of course there is going to be a lot of work. So,

         22  the question in my mind is, I want to make sure that

         23  we keep the money that you have proposed in your

         24  statement that it is going to still be in there.

         25                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes, we are
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          2  going to continue to proceed on the basis of the

          3  plans that I have outlined. I think that without us

          4  getting -- I think we are really beyond the point

          5  now of generalized policy statements about this,

          6  that or the other thing. I think we are really at

          7  the part -- I am from Akron and we have a whole

          8  saying in Akron, Ohio, that Akron is where the

          9  rubber meets the road.  We are now at the point

         10  where the rubber needs to meet the road. We need to

         11  start having some serious discussions about how we

         12  can get this resolved.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I have been

         14  serious for a long time, and sometimes I haven't met

         15  people who are as serious, but I am glad you are

         16  being serious.

         17                 The point, and the last question is,

         18  that the money you have announced in your statement

         19  are not contingent upon any --

         20                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: We are planning

         21  to proceed on the basis that I have outlined here.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         24  Warden.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Second round,
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          2  please.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER WARDEN: Thank you very

          4  much, and good morning, Commissioner.

          5                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Hi.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER WARDEN: I am concerned

          7  about the plans regarding your neighborhood

          8  preservation program. I understand that you are

          9  planning to reduce the number to about 30. However,

         10  this Committee has heard reports that all of the

         11  original groups presently are being funded, but on a

         12  month-to-month extension, instead of a year-long

         13  contract.

         14                 The first question is why are the

         15  groups funded in this manner?

         16                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, we had

         17  planned, you are absolutely correct, we had planned

         18  to reduce the number of organizations that we had

         19  under contract. We conducted a process for the

         20  procurement of those contracts and have -- and there

         21  were some concerns raised about the process that we

         22  have been trying to work out with the Mayor's Office

         23  of Contracts.

         24                 As a result, what we decided to do

         25  was to leave the original arrangements in place and
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          2  to take it through to the end of the fiscal year,

          3  which we will do, although we are just -- we are

          4  extending on a month-to-month basis. We have assured

          5  the groups that we will be moving in this way until

          6  the end of the fiscal year.

          7                 Then we are going to sit down and

          8  think about for the upcoming fiscal year as to on

          9  what basis we will proceed. We may be able to work

         10  out concerns that the Mayor's Office of Contracts

         11  had with our process, then again we may not and we

         12  may have to rethink our process. So, we are in the

         13  process of working through those issues right now.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER WARDEN: Okay, well, if

         15  you are successful in paring down to 30, where will

         16  the tenants and landlords that live in non-served

         17  areas go to receive services that were provided?

         18                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, we had a

         19  whole series of discussions about this last year

         20  when we actually made the decision to actually move

         21  from the -- move to the reduced number of groups and

         22  we were confident that we believed we could provide

         23  coverage to the entire city.

         24                 As a matter in fact, one of the

         25  reasons we had looked at moving to a smaller number
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          2  of groups was that we knew we were going to have an

          3  HPD presence in more of the City and that is one of

          4  the reasons that I referenced the opening of the

          5  anti-abandonment offices in some of the other

          6  boroughs where we had not had a presence.

          7                 So, we believe that this had been

          8  carefully calibrated, not only to give, to retain

          9  the appropriate number of groups that could cover

         10  the City, but also to balance that with our own

         11  coverage of these issues in neighborhoods.

         12                 So, I was not concerned about our

         13  ability to provide services throughout the City,

         14  that is really -- that really wasn't an issue and we

         15  thought we had worked through that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER WARDEN: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

         18                 Council Member Eristoff.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Thank you

         20  very much, Mr. Chairman.

         21                 Good morning, Commissioner.

         22                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Hi. How are

         23  you?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: I am sorry

         25  we have this forest of --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Our friends,

          3  the microphones.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Indeed.

          5                 I have got a couple of questions

          6  relating to some of your technology initiatives. You

          7  may recall from last year I had some questions, and

          8  I just wanted to update some of my figures and

          9  notes.

         10                 It is my understanding that last year

         11  you were budgeted about 1.6 million for Year 2000

         12  remediation and now you are requesting that about

         13  300,000 or so be rolled over into next year, is that

         14  an indication that you are just about done with all

         15  of that and expect no other expenditures?

         16                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes, that's

         17  right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: And you plan

         19  to have all of the testing done by the end of this

         20  fiscal year or --

         21                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: All right.

         23                 You also have something called an

         24  integrated property management system, do you plan

         25  to spend anything on that in fiscal --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I don't know if

          3  it is specifically Year 2000 related.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: No, no. I am

          5  turning away from year 2000 --

          6                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: We have a

          7  system that I think is a fantastic system that is

          8  going to be able to integrate not only our property

          9  management functions but a lot of the various

         10  functions throughout the agency.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: My

         12  understanding was you had about 290,000 in Fiscal

         13  '98 and 1.3 million for other years, and I am

         14  assuming that was for '99.

         15                 MA. LIPSET: We have in our capital

         16  budget also, it mainly would talk about the expense

         17  budget, but we look at the property management

         18  system as a core where we are building modules

         19  connected to that. So, you will see ongoing as we

         20  rewrite or develop systems throughout the agency,

         21  additional expenditures, and we can provide you with

         22  the details of what we are going to be doing next

         23  year.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Okay, rather

         25  than spending a lot of time here now.
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          2                 And the Housing Management and Sales

          3  Imaging Pilot Program, how did that go? And are you

          4  moving that forward?

          5                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I am told we

          6  are going fine.

          7                 COMMISSIONER MULLINGS: We are

          8  actually expanding it to include surveys so that we

          9  can do surveys.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: What are you

         11  budgeting for that?

         12                 COMMISSIONER MULLINGS: I believe it

         13  is -- right now what we need is the scanning

         14  machines and it is approximately 15,000.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Excuse me,

         16  Commissioner, would you identify your staff person,

         17  Ms. Mullings. Put her name on the record, please.

         18                 Will you identify yourself for the

         19  record.

         20                 COMMISSIONER MULLINGS: I am sorry.

         21  Pansy Mullings, Commissioner of Division of

         22  Maintenance.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Just two
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          2  further questions.

          3                 The emergency repair, apparently this

          4  system cost about $700,000 so -- and you were

          5  planning to have it completed by the end of Fiscal

          6  '98; did that in fact happen?

          7                 MS. LIPSET: With ERP we are going to

          8  be making a change. We are going to be having the

          9  Department of Finance actually do the billings when

         10  working towards that, because right now we have

         11  passed them information, once it becomes a lien, so

         12  what we are trying to do is have them do the initial

         13  billing and then the lien will automatically process

         14  if one does not pay.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Okay. I

         16  don't want this to sound the wrong way, but does

         17  that mean that the $700,000 that you spent on ERP

         18  was wasted or?

         19                 MS. LIPSET: No, because there are

         20  something things that we have to do internally in

         21  the agency to package the materials to go to

         22  finance. So, that money goes through systems again

         23  throughout the whole agency to package the monies

         24  that we spend on the emergency repairs in order to

         25  have finance bill.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: So what are

          3  you planning to spend in order to make the change

          4  that you just described?

          5                 MS. LIPSET: Probably several hundred

          6  thousand dollars.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Could I ask

          8  for some follow-up?

          9                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes,

         10  absolutely.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Okay.

         12                 The early warning system, my

         13  understanding was that you received a grant from NYU

         14  and the University of Pennsylvania for about

         15  $250,000; how did it go? And are you going to move

         16  forward with that?

         17                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: How did it go.

         18  Oh, boy. It went okay, but it is locked -- I think

         19  the system was and the idea was like a number of

         20  ideas that are generated by and in collaboration

         21  with academics, it had a lot of promise, and in

         22  theory it was good. In practice it really didn't

         23  provide as much information or insight as we thought

         24  it would. That is one of the reasons that we are

         25  focusing on trying to develop a borough base for our
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          2  anti-abandonment efforts.

          3                 In the neighborhood preservation

          4  program that Council Member Warden preferenced, the

          5  combination of our own presence and also working

          6  with groups that have a lot of information about

          7  buildings, communities, neighborhoods and so forth,

          8  along with our -- the massive amounts of information

          9  we have in our files with respect to loan assistance

         10  and code enforcement information, I think really

         11  serves as the best early warning system.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Okay.

         13                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: And I think

         14  that it just wasn't as helpful as we thought it

         15  would be.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Okay. So, in

         17  other words, you are not going to continue it?

         18                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: There may be

         19  aspects of it that might prove to be useful, but I

         20  could not really justify a wide spread expansion of

         21  it. But I do think the investment was a good

         22  investment.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Particularly

         24  since the City didn't pay, right?

         25                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: Okay.

          3                 But there will be ongoing costs in

          4  order to support such a system, you know, their

          5  personnel, maintenance and everything else. Do you

          6  plan to support the system?

          7                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes. I think

          8  that it will be an internal -- we can use it as an

          9  internal system and it can certainly be another

         10  reference point for information, and we may actually

         11  be able to, although I am obviously, just given the

         12  performance that I just made, I am obviously not an

         13  expert in these issues, but I think we might be able

         14  to integrate it into the property management system,

         15  for example.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ERISTOFF: All right.

         17  Thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

         19  Council member.

         20                 Commissioner, on page two of your

         21  testimony you stated that other programs are not

         22  contained baselined, including the City Council's

         23  funding for community consultants, et cetera, et

         24  cetera. As always, you expect that that will

         25  reappear somewhere. Is this the philosophical
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          2  opinion or a budget opinion?

          3                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I think it is

          4  really both. I mean, I think that policy issues are

          5  obviously often construed and transformed into

          6  budget discussions. But you know, our concern is

          7  that the program, we don't believe that the program

          8  is as rigorous and is as an effective program from a

          9  housing policy standpoint as, for example, the

         10  Neighborhood Preservation Program. That being said,

         11  the Council clearly has a different view.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You don't feel

         13  these groups serve any --

         14                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I would say on

         15  balance as a programmatic matter. I think that there

         16  may be like a lot of different programs, there

         17  certainly will be individual groups that do good

         18  work or perform an appropriate function. But from a

         19  housing policy standpoint, we don't see the efficacy

         20  of the program, and that is why we --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That is the

         22  community consultants and the legal services

         23  contracts?

         24                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Both, yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Now, what about
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          2  the groups, can that have any connection with the

          3  fact that the groups that have been designated, we

          4  get complaints that they have not received the

          5  allocations or their contracts in the existing

          6  budget?

          7                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Absolutely not.

          8  There is no connection there. Once the money is

          9  appropriated and authorized, we have an obligation

         10  as an agency to disperse it, as long as the

         11  vouchering and obligations are met in connection

         12  with that.

         13                 In fact, given the length of delay,

         14  we are now just seeing kind of the natural result of

         15  the length of delay in the discussions around the

         16  budget that was adopted last year, and that is kind

         17  of filtering through now through the process.

         18                 There also were some concerns that

         19  were raised by the Mayor's Office of Contracts and

         20  the Mayor's Office of Management and Budget about

         21  documentation for services rendered, and I think as

         22  a general matter we have worked through those issues

         23  and I think for the most part most of that paperwork

         24  and information has been now moved back to Council

         25  staff and we are now waiting for some information in

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            52

          1  HOUSING PRESERVATION AND DEVELOPMENT

          2  return.

          3                 So, we are moving forward.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: So you are

          5  saying if anything, it is bookkeeping and other

          6  kinds of technical details that are slowing the

          7  process down in terms of how fast these groups get

          8  their money?

          9                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Absolutely.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, Council

         11  Member Michels.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: We are

         13  getting horror stories. Maybe it is not your fault,

         14  maybe it is the contracting agency of the City, but

         15  here we are discussing the Fiscal Year 2000 budget

         16  and we have agency after agency out there, private

         17  agencies, who claim that they haven't gotten their

         18  money. They have to take bridge loans, they can't

         19  even get bridge loans, and this was money we put in,

         20  we finally agreed to the budget. Would you please

         21  look into this? Because this is not just hearsay, we

         22  need the specifics, if we want them.

         23                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Absolutely. We

         24  will work with you on it, but I must tell you --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: The red tape
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          2  here is just horrible.

          3                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I must tell you

          4  that generally if there is a horror story, I hear

          5  about it and, quite frankly, all that I have heard

          6  is just kind of natural, you know, taking these

          7  items through the process.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: We will have

          9  to get specifics on that because I just have a

         10  feeling here that this is a way of not funding these

         11  agencies, is by tying them up with red tape.

         12                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I would

         13  categorically reject that --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But you don't

         15  know.  Unless we give you the specifics of it, you

         16  can't reject it. Categorically you can.

         17                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: No, I can

         18  reject it, because quite frankly, if there was a --

         19  the only person that has any responsibility to be

         20  philosophical about these types of issues is me. So,

         21  if I don't have a philosophical problem with it,

         22  then the agency is not going to have a philosophical

         23  problem with it and we will discharge our

         24  obligations, and that is, quite frankly, what we are

         25  doing.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I will hold

          3  you to that and that is a proper answer and we have

          4  to give you the specifics of it.

          5                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Absolutely.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Because it is

          7  really turning into be a real problem for us, we add

          8  money for agencies that are supposed to get money

          9  and they don't have the money, and the same

         10  discussion was going on when the January Plan was

         11  delivered to us, they would come and testify that

         12  they haven't gotten their money yet.

         13                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, there is

         14  no way they could have gotten their money after the

         15  January Plan.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: We understand

         17  that.

         18                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: There was no

         19  way. So, if that is the horror story, then that --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Had the

         21  Administration acted properly after the

         22  City Council passed the budget, overrode the Mayor's

         23  veto, then they would have gotten their money by

         24  January. But there was a standoff and we know what

         25  took place, but certainly by now they should have
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          2  had their money.

          3                 Let me ask you some other questions.

          4  Mr. Spigner passed over other items when he talked

          5  about the community consultant, one of the big ones,

          6  the legal services contract, as $2 million. And that

          7  is the Anti-Abandonment Program for the City.

          8                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: No, I am

         10  sorry, the Anti-Eviction Program.

         11                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes, because we

         12  run the Anti-Abandonment Program. The Anti-Eviction

         13  Program, right.

         14                 In our view, as we have stated on

         15  numerous occasions here, that there is funding, it

         16  is the Human Resources Administration for those

         17  services, and that is I think the philosophical

         18  discussion that we have, and --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Commissioner,

         20  HRA only goes in and represents people who are

         21  actually clients of theirs who are on public

         22  assistance. They will not help people who are not on

         23  public assistance in Housing Court.

         24                 So, what we are talking about is the

         25  ones that are not covered by HRA. We are talking
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          2  about people who, you don't represent tenants who go

          3  into court who are about to be evicted, your agency

          4  doesn't do that, right? And if we don't have money

          5  for people to do that, then these people are

          6  under-represented, they get evicted, they then have

          7  to get all of the services that result in people

          8  being not evicted, and many times they are evicted

          9  unjustifiably and what you have is, and they told us

         10  the numbers, it is probably a huge amount, and it

         11  probably costs you, for every dollar we spend in

         12  anti-eviction, we save something like $4, maybe we

         13  save three dollars.

         14                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I haven't seen

         15  those figures.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: We will get

         17  you those figures.

         18                 But how you can philosophically be

         19  against providing funds for people to be represented

         20  in anti-eviction problems, I don't understand that,

         21  and if it is the attitude of the Administration, I

         22  would like to know about it, that people are not

         23  entitled to be represented, if poor people are not

         24  entitled to be represented, as long as they are not

         25  on public assistance.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I don't think

          3  there are a lot of other agencies that provide as

          4  much support in all aspects and areas of housing. I

          5  mean, I think what it comes down to, quite frankly,

          6  Council member, is our looking at priorities in

          7  light of the resources that are available to us, and

          8  making some judgments about what we can afford and

          9  what we can't.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Can you

         11  afford to have people --

         12                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Can I finish my

         13  answer?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you.

         15                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: So, again, I

         16  think that we have routinely discussed this. We have

         17  clearly a difference of opinion about the scope of

         18  the services that the Human Resources Administration

         19  provide. I don't think that you are absolutely

         20  entirely correct in terms of the populations that

         21  they serve, because I think it is actually broader

         22  than what you outlined.

         23                 So we can have a discussion about

         24  that, but quite frankly, the issue that the Chairman

         25  raises is whether those payments -- because quite
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          2  frankly, this is an academic discussion because the

          3  money is in the budget, and the question then

          4  becomes, well, what is the problem in terms of

          5  trying to get payment worked out.

          6                 So, the question becomes --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am talking

          8  about $2 million upcoming in the budget which has

          9  been cut out.

         10                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, this is a

         11  discussion for purposes of -- I thought you were

         12  talking about, well, what have they gotten paid.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am reading

         14  from your statement that not contained in your

         15  Fiscal Year 2000 budget, among that is $2 million,

         16  and we know that Legal Services contracts you are

         17  talking about are the Anti-Eviction services.

         18                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Right.

         19                 So, right we are not planning --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: So you are

         21  not planning --

         22                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Right, we are

         23  not planning to fund that.

         24                 But I quite frankly have been here

         25  three years and I have said the same thing, we are
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          2  not planning to fund them --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: We put the

          4  money in, but I think it is outrageous that we have

          5  to do it and the Administration doesn't, because if

          6  that is a philosophical approach, that people who

          7  are not on public assistance cannot afford legal

          8  services, that we don't provide services for them, I

          9  think it is outrageous. I think we have to protect

         10  people from being evicted. And not only outrageous

         11  but it is fiscally irresponsible, because we know it

         12  costs much more to provide services to these people

         13  once they have been evicted, homeless services and

         14  all of the other services that go with it, besides

         15  the terrible affect they have on the family lives of

         16  the people who get thrown out of their apartments. I

         17  think it is something that we should relook at, and

         18  the Administration shouldn't just depend on us to

         19  put the money in.

         20                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: We are not.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Sure you are,

         22  you do it every year.

         23                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: No, we are not

         24  depending on you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Of course you
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          2  are.

          3                 Also, what exactly is involved in

          4  your Anti-Abandonment Program? Didn't you describe

          5  the typical installment agreement that you had when

          6  you do Anti-Abandonment work?

          7                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, the

          8  typical installment agreement is governed by what

          9  finance will permit you to enter into with an owner,

         10  we have someone here who can tell you --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes.

         12                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Karen Walker

         13  Brice. For the record, Karen Walker Brice is

         14  Assistant Commissioner of Anti-Abandonment.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WALKER BRICE:

         16  The Commissioner has --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You have to

         18  state your name for the record.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WALKER BRICE:

         20  Karen Walker Brice, Assistant Commissioner of the

         21  Division of Anti-Abandonment.

         22                 We have a range of services that we

         23  provide to owners through our Anti-Abandonment

         24  Program, including voluntary repair agreements,

         25  facilitating of arrangements with the Department of
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          2  Finance around installment agreements, education

          3  around code compliance and management techniques and

          4  loan assistance.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But what is

          6  the installment agreement?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER WALKER BRICE:

          8  Oh, the installment agreements are with the

          9  Department of Finance, where owners have outstanding

         10  tax arrears, owners are able to go to the Department

         11  of Finance, if it is appropriate. If they don't have

         12  prior defaulted installment agreements and enter

         13  into installment agreements to cover the tax

         14  arrears.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you

         16  very much. I appreciate it.

         17                 The other thing is, how many

         18  employees do you have in the agency who are on a per

         19  diem basis?

         20                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: We have those

         21  numbers. Diane has those numbers.

         22                 We have a lot of seasonal, as you

         23  know, seasonal operations, whether it is the heat

         24  season or what have you. So, most of our per diem

         25  hiring goes to those types of issues.
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          2                 MS. LIPSET: We have about 190, but

          3  because they are per diem, and they change based

          4  upon the particular needs, you know, it could be a

          5  little above that, a little below that. There are,

          6  as you know as the Commissioner said, some for

          7  seasonal needs, the heat season, the central

          8  complaint, so we expect the number to drop, you

          9  know, after the heat season is over, which is the

         10  end of May.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am just

         12  looking for the overall figure for the fiscal year

         13  --

         14                 MS. LIPSET: No, it's at a point in

         15  time you can't, because it varies due to seasonal

         16  needs. So at this point in time, you know, it is

         17  around 190. We expect it to drop in the next few

         18  months.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Could you

         20  give us a breakdown of what the functions are? If

         21  you want to do it now, fine, but you can give it to

         22  us later on, as to where these per diems are

         23  located, where they are.

         24                 The Executive Budget, you talked

         25  again in your statement, Commissioner, about the
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          2  fact that you are going to have 240 inspectors after

          3  you do some more hiring, I guess. Thirty new

          4  inspectors, allowing for a total of 240. But the

          5  budget, on page 220 to 22-66 of volume four of the

          6  supporting schedules talks about 268 inspectors. Are

          7  we planning to hire those 268 inspectors?

          8                 MS. LIPSET: The 240 is the field

          9  staff, that could include also the supervisory

         10  staff. So, when you consider supervisory staff, it

         11  is a greater number. I am not sure exactly what when

         12  you add in the supervisors, but it is significantly

         13  greater than the 240 that we really have on board.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Well, I am

         15  looking at this, and I will let you see this.

         16                 Sergeant-At-Arms, please.

         17                 I will give you the page, I don't

         18  expect you to have the page in front of you, talks

         19  about 268.

         20                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes, I think

         21  what Diane is saying is that there is a -- we could

         22  figure out if it includes supervisory staff.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: No, our staff

         24  says it doesn't include supervisors, different

         25  title. Supervisory is a different title.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Do you know

          3  that for a fact? Not on this list there isn't.

          4                 MS. LIPSET: At times we move the

          5  money around. It could be at a point in time the

          6  money was budgeted that way to support the changes,

          7  so we probably put money on that line but we intend

          8  to bump some people up to supervisors, so we will

          9  probably be changing the schedule.

         10                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes, so we will

         11  do a comparison of what this schedule is and what is

         12  currently on staff.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: As you know,

         14  we are anxious to have as many inspectors as we

         15  possibly can on staff. We think that is the best

         16  Anti-Abandonment policy you can get, is to make the

         17  owners keep their buildings in good repair. Of

         18  course we are very unhappy with this number, it is

         19  still a low number. And since we do have money in

         20  the budget, and since we do value our housing stock,

         21  and since we have limited programs for new housing

         22  or even rehabilitated housing, because the feds are

         23  not giving us money and the state is not giving us

         24  money, it really behooves us to try to utilize

         25  everyone we possibly can to do the mission of your
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          2  agency and mainly to preserve housing in the City,

          3  and the best way of doing it is have inspectors go

          4  out there and making sure that the buildings are

          5  kept, or at least having the owners have the fear of

          6  the inspectors coming in so they keep their

          7  buildings up without you even having to go in there.

          8                 So, it is important to increase, if

          9  we got some extra money to increase the housing. I

         10  know it is not easy to put them on board, you have

         11  to train them and everything like that, but isn't

         12  there a more ambitious program --

         13                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I am proud of

         14  the fact that every year I have had this job we have

         15  increased the number of inspectors and we continue

         16  to look at that --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: We once had

         18  600, 700 housing inspectors, we had regular --

         19                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: There was a

         20  specific reference in the testimony to 1991 and when

         21  the state funding for the inspectors were reduced,

         22  that is an issue that we continually press for in

         23  Albany. You know, we continue to look at it, Council

         24  Member, we think that there are a lot of other

         25  things that we need to do as well and we are doing
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          2  them.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I agree it is

          4  not mutually exclusive, but we can't depend on

          5  Albany. The real obligation is on your agency to

          6  keep up the housing stock, and we can't say that we

          7  can't do it because Albany doesn't give us the money

          8  if we have the money available --

          9                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, I would

         10  certainly say that was a shared obligation --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And we have

         12  the money available.

         13                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I would hate to

         14  have someone in Albany or Washington tell me that it

         15  was only the City's responsibility.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: They have

         17  abandoned us. You know they have abandoned us.

         18                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, that is

         19  not entirely the case.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And they are

         21  not giving us the money for the inspectors, and we

         22  have a $2.1 billion surplus in the budget, I am

         23  saying you should get your fair share of that to try

         24  to preserve the housing stock, which is one of the

         25  most important things we can do in this City.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            67

          1  HOUSING PRESERVATION AND DEVELOPMENT

          2                 Is there any plans to increase the

          3  staffing of HPD's litigation bureau?

          4                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes. We are in

          5  the process I think as we mentioned before of hiring

          6  I think six additional attorneys, and we are also in

          7  the process of focusing on some reorganization of

          8  resources within the agency, as the size of the in

          9  rem stock goes down, the number of properties that

         10  we actually own, then there is less of a need for a

         11  presence on our end to have the City represented as

         12  landlords in Housing Court, so there may be some

         13  opportunities to identify some way to transfer

         14  resources or share resources in that regard.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Well, as far

         16  as HP actions are concerned where they would go

         17  into, you may be named as a defendant but the

         18  tenants rely on you to be their advocates, and you

         19  enter into agreements and everything with the

         20  landlords to try to get them to fix up their

         21  properties.

         22                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: And that is an

         23  ongoing obligation that we have been meeting.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And that is a

         25  very important program, and that is why you need as
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          2  many Housing Litigation Bureau people as you can.

          3                 In a recent letter you sent to me,

          4  and I have it here, April 19th, 1999, which I

          5  appreciate your response to, you report that some

          6  37,000 violations certified by landlords have been

          7  corrected. Of them HPD inspectors found 12,524 not

          8  to be corrected. Have you instituted any legal

          9  proceedings, other than the 115 or 120 I think you

         10  originally told us the last time?

         11                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I don't know if

         12  we initiated any proceedings on a result of those.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I didn't

         14  finish the question.

         15                 Who falsely certified corrected

         16  violations, and have you collected any fines as a

         17  result of these legal actions that you are talking

         18  about proceeding with?

         19                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes, I don't

         20  know what specifically the outcome of those

         21  certifications are, and how many we have actually

         22  rolled into a comprehensive building-wide litigation

         23  and what have you. I am happy to get you that

         24  information.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: They have
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          2  found that of those certified being correct, over

          3  12,000 were falsely certified.

          4                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes, we have

          5  had this definitional discussion on six different

          6  occasions but --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I understand,

          8  and I am not looking for a definitional discussion,

          9  what I am trying to do is make sure the landlords or

         10  the owners when they certify it know that if they

         11  don't correct certify, that there are some

         12  consequences, they are going to be fined, or

         13  whatever has to be done, they are going to be held

         14  in perjury or violation. They should know that. Only

         15  because I want the buildings fixed up, not because I

         16  want to put them in jail.

         17                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: You made that

         18  statement last time about perjury --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Right.

         20                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: And I wanted to

         21  get into a horn-book with you about what basis on

         22  which that would constitute perjury.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: False

         24  swearing.

         25                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: But events of
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          2  the last year have demonstrated perjury is a very

          3  subtle issue.

          4                 But, again, the --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Considering

          6  some relative of yours, I don't think you want to

          7  give --

          8                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes, that is

          9  very nice, thank you.

         10                 But the certification, you know,

         11  false certification doesn't necessarily mean willful

         12  intent to lie, to mislead or what have you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: There are all

         14  circumstances.

         15                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: There are all

         16  circumstances. Sometimes it does.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I want to put

         18  the fear of God -- not the fear of God, the fear of

         19  penalty or whatever, in the owners who do this. And

         20  I am sure there are some extenuating circumstances

         21  of some of the certifications, and there are some

         22  people who, and as you say in your letter, are not

         23  sure that all of it is a false certification,

         24  because sometimes things happen afterwards that are

         25  not under control of the person who certified. But
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          2  the fact is, they should know when they are going to

          3  do a certification they have to be darn careful

          4  about it, and they have to make sure they have done

          5  the work or else there are going to be consequences.

          6                 And we have a huge amount that are

          7  found to be false certifications. When you do your

          8  own checking, not us, and this is not the first

          9  time, this has been going on since way before you

         10  were here, other Commissioners have found the same

         11  thing, it seems to me that it may be a systemic

         12  problem and you have to do something radical to

         13  break out of this systemic problem.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

         15  Councilman.

         16                 Commissioner, one last question, as

         17  it relates to, we are informed that the Neighborhood

         18  Preservation groups that were to be reduced to 30,

         19  that the largest number of them are still receiving

         20  funds in excess of the 30.

         21                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: What are we to

         23  draw from that conclusion?

         24                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, just that

         25  the proposal that we made to reduce to 30 was not,
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          2  we have not implemented it for a variety of

          3  different reasons, so we are now in a situation

          4  where we are continuing to pay the groups that we

          5  had under contract from the prior fiscal year.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: So, you are

          7  still in the process of reducing an orderly

          8  reduction of --

          9                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes, I don't

         10  know whether we will actually at the end of the day

         11  end up reducing from 52 to 30. We are now in the

         12  planning stage to figure out what we are in fact

         13  going to do for fiscal year '00.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: So, in the

         15  budget year that we are now talking about, do you

         16  intend to carry this same policy forward?

         17                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: The same number

         19  of groups, the same amount of money?

         20                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: The fiscal year

         21  we are in, we will continue to extend the existing

         22  groups until the end of the fiscal year. Just the

         23  end of this one.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay.

         25                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: For the next
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          2  fiscal year we need to finalize what our plan is

          3  going to be for what we do in that regard, and

          4  obviously we need to do it quickly because we are

          5  coming to the point where we have to make some, we

          6  have to implement.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Just to comment,

          8  I see you are saving some money? That was in your

          9  testimony; am I correct?

         10                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: I think so.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That's good.

         12                 All right, Stanley, again, please.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: What is the

         14  Harlem Gateway Program? You say in your statement

         15  further in rem in the Harlem Gateway.

         16                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Community Board

         17  10, we could --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I know the

         19  area.

         20                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: We are looking

         21  at the possibility of actually initiating some

         22  third-party transfer actions against properties that

         23  haven't paid their taxes in that area, and we think

         24  that might actually be a very good strategy to

         25  dealing with some of the intractible problems of
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          2  landlords meeting their obligations and so forth.

          3                 That is why, you know, getting to

          4  your earlier question, I think there are a lot of

          5  different strategies that we need to employ in order

          6  to deal with these issues.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I agree. I

          8  agree with you.

          9                 When you talk about on page four,

         10  Third-party Transfer Purchases, is that the Building

         11  Blocks Program? When we talk about Third-Party

         12  Transfers, is that NEP and NRP?

         13                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: No. No.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: What is that?

         15                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: That is

         16  essentially the authorization that we have under

         17  Local Law 37 to transfer properties in the context

         18  of an in rem foreclosure action from property owner

         19  A to property owner B. And so that is essentially

         20  what it is.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And you will

         22  use that in the gateway also?

         23                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Right.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: In other

         25  words, the philosophy being, something that I have
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          2  talked about over the years, the earlier you get

          3  them, the less work you are going to have to do to

          4  fix them up.

          5                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: That would be

          6  one way of putting it. It wouldn't be quite the way

          7  I would put it, but, yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I don't

          9  expect you to repeat my words.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Commissioner, we

         12  have this in rem transfer which I am told has not

         13  yet been implemented where these in rem buildings

         14  were to be transferred to third parties; is that

         15  moving ahead?

         16                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes, we

         17  initiated the action and as I just mentioned, it is

         18  under Local Law 37, there are time frames for which

         19  the process has to proceed. It takes about 13 months

         20  to do it and we are going forward. We are coming to

         21  the end of it for the particular initiative that we

         22  actually initiated last year.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: How many

         24  buildings are involved in this ultimate transfer?

         25                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Forty-nine
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          2  properties. Forty-nine buildings. Forty-nine

          3  properties, some of them are vacant lots.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You are

          5  announcing that they are opening Anti-Abandonment

          6  offices in both Manhattan and Queens to increase

          7  your ability for local based outreach remediation.

          8  You already have offices in the Bronx and Brooklyn,

          9  could you tell us about what the mission of those

         10  offices are and what they are going to do?

         11                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Yes. As I

         12  mentioned before, the mission is to try to provide

         13  more intense outreach and earlier intervention in

         14  the process. So, repair agreements, installment

         15  agreements, targeted code enforcement, loan

         16  assistance, counseling, education, these are all

         17  things that we want to try to -- the way I would

         18  like to think about it is I have gone out into

         19  communities and spoken about it, is that health care

         20  really would be analogy. What we are trying to do is

         21  we are trying to have primary care offices, if you

         22  will, where we actually diagnose the problems that

         23  buildings have and write prescriptions much earlier

         24  in the process.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: How do you
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          2  identify those buildings? Who is going to do that?

          3                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: We do.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Are you going

          5  to have inspectors there doing this?

          6                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Well, not only

          7  inspectors, inspectors aren't the only people in the

          8  world.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I understand

         10  that. They are the ones that go into the field and

         11  look around.

         12                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Other people

         13  will go out into the field as well, we have a whole

         14  complement of people who aren't inspectors who are

         15  out in the field. We manage buildings in the field,

         16  we have planning offices that evaluate properties

         17  and buildings in the field. So, field work --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: How about

         19  community consultants?

         20                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: The

         21  Neighborhood Preservation Consultants is also

         22  another mechanism for doing that, but quite frankly,

         23  the community consultants we have not found to be as

         24  effective in doing that. That is one of the reasons

         25  we are back to where we are with respect to that
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          2  program.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Do you see

          4  any role for community consultants?

          5                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: No.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: All right,

          8  Commissioner. I want to thank you for your

          9  testimony, and continue your strong efforts in

         10  reducing the number of in rems, because when we

         11  reduce the in rems, that leaves more community

         12  development funds to be put into other areas of

         13  need. Again, New York City is probably the only city

         14  in the nation that spends the bulk of its CD money

         15  on housing stock, and the rest of the City, the

         16  other needs in the City suffer.

         17                 Thank you so much for your testimony.

         18                 COMMISSIONER ROBERTS: Thank you very

         19  much. I learned it all from you, Mr. Chairman.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 (Hearing concluded at 10:45 a.m.)
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